# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-28-2018

In re CSRBA Case No. 49576 Subcase No. 91-7755 Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45383

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the case.

This appeal concerns the Coeur d'Alene Tribe's ("Tribe") entitlement to reserved water to fulfill the purposes of the Coeur d'Alene Indian Reservation ("Reservation"). In 2008, pursuant to Idaho Code Ann. § 42-1406B, the Fifth Judicial District Court of Idaho initiated the Coeur d'Alene-Spokane River Basin Adjudication ("CSRBA") to adjudicate all rights to use surface and groundwater in the Basin. The United States was joined pursuant to 43 U.S.C. § 666. The United States, as trustee on behalf of the Coeur d'Alene Tribe, filed 353 federal reserved water rights claims in the CSRBA pursuant to *Winters v. U.S.*, 207 U.S. 564 (1908). The Coeur d'Alene Tribe intervened in May of 2015, and adopted the claims filed by the United States on behalf of the Tribe.

#### **B.** Course of proceedings in the district court.

The parties agreed to consolidate the Tribe's and the United States' claims into one subcase and bifurcate the issues of entitlement and quantification. After initial discovery, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment on the issue of entitlement. After briefing and hearing, the district court granted each party's motions in part, and denied them in part, holding (1) water was reserved only for "primary purposes" of the Reservation, which it identified as domestic, agriculture, fishing and hunting purposes, and no water was reserved for other purposes; (2) the Tribe was not entitled to reserved water rights for instream flows outside the Reservation; (3) the priority dates for reserved water rights is November 8, 1873, for consumptive uses and time immemorial for nonconsumptive uses; and (4) on reacquired allotments, the priority date for consumptive water rights depends on intervening non-Indian ownership and a showing of beneficial use. On the State's motion for reconsideration, the district court amended its order to clarify that its ruling on the priority date for reacquired allotments extended to reacquired homesteads and nonconsumptive water rights on reacquired lands. On a joint tribal-federal motion to set aside the judgment, the court corrected a clerical error dismissing on-Reservation instream flow fishing claims. All parties filed appeals pursuant to I.A.R. 11(a)(1) from the district court's final orders and interlocutory appeals under I.A.R. 12(c) from the district court's orders on motions for summary judgment and motions for reconsideration. On August 16, 2017, the district court granted the permissive appeals. By Order of this Court on September 27, 2017, the motions for appeals under I.A.R. 12(c) were denied, but this Court noted that "the interlocutory orders may be addressed on appeal." Order Denying Coeur d'Alene Tribe's Motion for Appeal by Permission (Sept. 27, 2017).

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

**A.** What are the purposes of the Coeur d'Alene Indian Reservation?

**B.** Should the Tribe have the opportunity to prove during the quantification phase that reserved rights to instream flows outside the Reservation are necessary to fulfill the fishing purpose of the Reservation?

**C.** Do water rights for lands the Tribe has reacquired within the Reservation have priority dates no later than the date of Reservation establishment, except for nonconsumptive uses reflecting aboriginal water uses, which have priority dates of time immemorial?

#### **ATTORNEY FEES**

No attorney's fees are being sought in this appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Coeur d'Alene Tribe or *Schitsu'umsh* ("those who are found here") once occupied and possessed over 3.5 million acres in northern Idaho and northeastern Washington. *Idaho v. U.S.*, 533 U.S. 262, 265 (2001) ("*Idaho II*"); *see also* Clerk's Corrected Record on Appeal ("R.") at 1423 (E. Richard Hart. A History of Coeur d'Alene Tribal Water Use: 1780-1915 (Nov. 25, 2015)

("Hart Rep. 2015")). The Tribe's aboriginal territory included significant water resources including the area in and around Lake Coeur d'Alene—the "very heart" of Coeur d'Alene tribal settlement—its tributaries, a portion of the Spokane River, and drainage basins of the Coeur d'Alene River and the St. Joe River. *Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 265; R. at 2635 (United States' and Coeur d'Alene Tribe's Joint Statement of Facts ("Jt. Stmt. Facts") ¶ 12).

Today the Tribe occupies a Reservation within its aboriginal territory including the southern end of Lake Coeur d'Alene. R. at 2629 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 1). In *Idaho II*, the Supreme Court held that the United States holds in trust, for the benefit of the Tribe, both the bed and banks of the southern third of Lake Coeur d'Alene and the St. Joe River—which alone contributes just over 2 million acre-feet of water<sup>1</sup> into the Lake. *Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 265-81;<sup>2</sup> R. at 1429 (Hart Rep. 2015).

The Coeur d'Alene people traditionally lived in villages located around the Lake and along the rivers. U.S. v. Idaho, 95 F. Supp. 2d 1094, 1100 (D. Idaho 1998) (Idaho II); R. at 1431-52 (Hart Rep. 2015) (discussing village sites and locations). "Villages were situated near the lakes and rivers not only because of the ready and abundant supply of fish, but because travel through the dense undergrowth and thick forests was difficult, and much easier by canoe in the lakes and rivers." R. at 1451 (Hart Rep. 2015); *see also* R. at 2635 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 13). The historical record before the district court forcefully demonstrates the Tribe utilized the Lake and its related waterways to sustain virtually every aspect of tribal life, including "food, fiber, transportation,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> An acre-foot is approximately 325,900 gallons—enough water to cover one acre with one foot of water.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In its decision, the Supreme Court in *Idaho II* noted that the State of Idaho "did not challenge the District Court's findings of facts on appeal." 533 U.S. at 265 n.1 (citing *U.S. v. Idaho*, 210 F.3d 1067, 1070 (9th Cir. 2000)).

recreation, and cultural activities." *Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 265; R. at 2632-41 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶¶ 6-27).

In the *Idaho II* litigation, federal district court Judge Lodge ("Judge Lodge") found that "[b]y the 1840's, the Coeur d'Alenes had begun to cultivate small garden plots . . . [but these] endeavors augmented its traditional lifestyle, [and did] not supplant the Tribe's dependence on the waterways . . . ." *Idaho II*, 95 F. Supp. 2d at 1101; *see id.* at 1102 (describing the Tribe's farming practices). Catholic missionaries also began setting up missions within Coeur d'Alene territory in the early 1840's and reported on the widespread use of and reliance upon water resources by the Coeur d'Alene for their daily needs (e.g., hunting, fishing, gathering, transportation). R. at 1501, 1508-20 (Hart Rep. 2015) (describing tribal activities and reproducing pictures drawn by Father Point).

In 1853, the first Governor for the Washington Territory, Isaac I. Stevens, was appointed and tasked to negotiate treaties with the tribes under his jurisdiction. R. at 2643 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 32). Governor Stevens traveled to and met briefly with the Coeur d'Alene in June and December of 1855 and conveyed the federal government's intention to obtain land cessions and place the Tribe on a reservation where it would have "farms and schools and mills and shops of various kinds, and teachers and farmers and mechanics to instruct you in the arts of civilization[,]" but assured the Tribe that "nothing will be done without your full consent. *See* R. at 1525-30 (Hart Rep. 2015); *see also* R. at 2643-44 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶¶ 33-4). Coeur d'Alene leaders told Stevens they did not want soldiers coming onto their lands because "[w]e have not made friendship yet. When we see that the soldiers don't cross the Columbia, we shall believe you take us for your friends." R. at 1533 (Hart Rep. 2015); *see also* R. at 677 (Ian Smith, *Historical Examination of the Purposes for the Creation of the Coeur d'Alene Indian Reservation* (Nov. 30, 2015) ("Smith Rep. 2015")). Stevens never returned to negotiate a treaty with the Tribe and by 1858 encroaching hostilities between non-Indian settlers and Indians reached Coeur d'Alene territory. United States Troops stationed in Walla Walla, led by Lieutenant Colonel Edward J. Steptoe, were ordered to respond to conflicts with Colville. R. at 2645 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 35); R. at 1541 (Hart Rep. 2015). Steptoe left for Colville on May 6, 1858, but did not take a direct route, heading instead through Coeur d'Alene's territory. R. at 1541 (Hart Rep. 2015). When Steptoe reached Coeur d'Alene lands he was met by as many as 1,000 warriors, including 200 Coeur d'Alenes and more than 300 Spokane, Yakama, and Palouse Indians. R. at 2645 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 35). Coeur d'Alene leaders confronted Steptoe, asked why he was invading their territory and ordered him to leave. R. at 1543 (Hart Rep. 2015). After "a small group of Indians opened fire on the troops, all of the Indians joined in the battle . . . ." *Id.* Steptoe's forces sustained heavy casualties and retreated under the cover of darkness. *Id.* 

Shortly thereafter, in September 1858, roughly 100 Coeur d'Alenes fought in two subsequent engagements against federal troops under the Command of Colonel George Wright. R. 2645 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 35). Hostilities between the United States and Coeur d'Alenes formally ended with the signing of a peace accord on September 17, 1858. *Id.*; R. at 1545-52 (Hart Rep. 2015). Because of the 1858 wars, the United States recognized the willingness and ability of Coeur d'Alenes to vigorously defend their territory, which impacted future federal relations with the Tribe, including the establishment and protection of their 1873 Reservation. *See Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 275-77.

#### 1867 Executive Order Reservation

In the 1858 peace accord, the Tribe promised to allow non-Indians to safely pass through Coeur d'Alene country. R. at 1547-48 (Hart Rep. 2015). Based upon this permission, between 1859 and 1862, Captain John Mullan built the Mullan Road through Coeur d'Alene territory for the purpose of allowing transcontinental travel to new gold fields in the Northwest. R. at 1555-56 (Hart Rep. 2015). Captain Mullan reported to Congress that the Coeur d'Alene Indians "live by hunting, fishing, and cultivating the soil." R. at 2647-48 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 39). While Captain Mullan was impressed by Coeur d'Alene farming endeavors, he recognized that tribal members still relied primarily on traditional subsistence activities, including digging camas, picking berries, and traveling via canoes, and many continued to reside in traditional village sites "along the Coeur d'Alene and St. Joseph's rivers." *Id.* 

The Mullen Road brought an influx of prospectors and miners through Coeur d'Alene territory. "[I]n the face of immigration into the Tribe's aboriginal territory, [on June 14, 1867] President Johnson issued an Executive Order setting aside a reservation of comparatively modest size" for the Coeur d'Alene Indians. *Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 265 (citation omitted). The 1867 reservation formally approved boundaries set out in report by Idaho Territorial Governor Ballard to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs ("Commissioner") D.N. Cooley of roughly "20 miles square" that would include "agricultural & grazing lands, with hunting, fishing, berries & roots, & suitable locations for mills & c." R. at 2649 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 42). But the 1867 Reservation boundaries did not include the Lake or other key waterways vitally important to the life of the Tribe. *Compare* R. at 697 (Smith Rep. 2015, Map of Proposed 1867 reservation) *with id.* at 709 (Map of 1873 reservation).

The Tribe apparently was not consulted about and did not even become aware of the 1867 Executive Order reservation until at least 1871, when it "petitioned the Government to set aside a reservation." *Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 266; *see also* 210 F.3d 1067, 1070 (9th Cir. 2000). Upon learning of the 1867 reservation boundaries, tribal leaders flatly rejected them "due in part to their failure to make adequate provision for fishing and other uses of important waterways." *Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 266; *see also* 95 F. Supp. 2d at 1095 ("The precise boundaries of the 1867 reservation

never were established by survey, and the Tribe never formally accepted the reservation as its own."); R. at 2651 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 48). The Commissioner later recognized that "the Coeur d'Alenes . . . being dissatisfied with the location [of the 1867 Executive Order reservation] . . . never located thereon, and continued to roam over the tract of country claimed by them." R. at 1572 (Hart Rep. 2015). Throughout this time and into the 1870s government agents continued to report that Coeur d'Alenes "farm on a small scale, but subsist principally on hunting and fishing." R. at 2650 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 46); *see also Idaho II*, 95 F. Supp. 2d at 1103-04 (noting the importance of and quoting the same language in the 1871 Report by Agent W.P. Winas).

#### 1873 Agreement and Executive Order Reservation

In 1872, the Tribe sent a second petition requesting the Commissioner to create a new and expanded reservation, one that included the Lake and other important waterways. *Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 266. Given the importance of and reliance on their waterways to sustain their livelihood, the Tribe's petition explained that they assumed any reservation would as "a matter of course" include important waterways like the St. Joe and Coeur d'Alene Rivers. *Idaho II*, 95 F. Supp. 2d at 1103. Judge Lodge found that the Tribe's second petition

makes three points . . . <u>First</u>, the Tribe never entertained the possibility of withdrawing to a reservation that did not include the river valleys. <u>Second</u>, the Tribe considered the area adjacent to the waterways its home. <u>Third</u>, and most important, in 1872 the Tribe continued to rely on the water resource for a significant portion of its needs. . . . Several reports emphasize the Tribe's commitment to farming, while other accounts note the Tribe's continued reliance on fishing. Most important among the latter is a letter from [Deputy Surveyor] David P. Thompson to the Commissioner of the General Land Office, dated May 6, 1873, urging that the 1867 reservation be enlarged to include the waterways because '[s]hould the fisheries be excluded there will in my opinion be trouble with these indians [sic] but should they be included and also the mission which should also be in the Reservation there will be no trouble.'

Id. at 1103 (citations omitted) (emphasis added); see also Idaho II, 533 U.S. at 276-77.

In 1873, Indian Commissioner Smith established the three-member Shanks Commission,

to negotiate with the Coeur d'Alenes for an agreement under which a permanent reservation would

be created and the Tribe's non-reserved aboriginal territory would be conveyed to the United States. R. at 2655 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 56). Two Members of the Shanks Commission and Indian Agent Monteith "rode over" the 1867 reservation and "took notes of the boundaries." R. at 707 (Smith Rep. 2015). The Commission then held a council with the Tribe on July 25-27, 1873, where they agreed to new, enlarged boundaries. *Id.*; R. at 2655-56 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 57) (providing the legal description for the 1873 Reservation). The expanded Coeur d'Alene Reservation (approximately 598,000 acres) encompassed nearly all of Lake Coeur d'Alene and many of the Tribe's principal fisheries and village sites along the Coeur d'Alene, St. Joe, and Spokane Rivers. *Idaho II*, 95 F. Supp. 2d at 1102, 1106, 1108; R. at 2656 (Jt. Stmt. Facts ¶ 58).

In the 1873 Agreement, the United States agreed to "set apart and secure [the expanded Reservation] for the exclusive use of the Coeur d'Alene Indians" in exchange for the Tribe agreeing "to relinquish (for compensation) all claims to its aboriginal lands outside the bounds" of the expanded reservation. *Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 266 (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also* R. at 4202 (Second Aff. of Vanessa Boyd Willard, Ex. 5, Agreement with the Coeur d'Alene of July 28, 1873 ("1873 Agreement")). The Agreement expressly stated that the Tribe agreed to "locate and make their homes upon the reservation." R. at 4202 (1873 Agreement, art. 2). The United States also agreed to furnish and construct "for use of said Indians 1 grist and saw mill combined; 1 School House with apartments ... 1 smith shop[,]" and provide a saw miller and blacksmith who were required to teach the Indians their skills. R. at 4202 (1873 Agreement, art. 3). *See also Idaho II*, 95 F. Supp. 2d at 1105 (discussing that the expanded reservation would include Indian farms and allow the Tribe to put a mill at the upper falls). Any funds remaining under the Agreement were to be used for "such articles of comfort for the civilization of said Indians ...." R. at 4202 (1873 Agreement, art. 3).

The 1873 Agreement "preserv[ed] the water resource[s]" for the Tribe because it "added the rivers, lake and waters with which they demanded remain under their control." R. at 1589-90 (Hart Rep. 2015); *see also Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 274 ("A right to control the lakebed and adjacent waters was traditionally important to the Tribe. . . ."). The 1873 Agreement also contains a provision unique to Coeur d'Alene that expressly protects the Tribe's water resources by stating that "the waters running into said reservation shall not be turned from their natural channel where they enter said Reservation." R. at 4202 (1873 Agreement). The importance of this provision is buttressed by Judge Lodge's finding in *Idaho II* that "a purpose of the 1873 agreement was to provide the Tribe with a reservation that granted tribal members <u>exclusive use</u> of the water resource." 95 F. Supp. 2d at 1109 (emphasis added). Judge Lodge explained that:

at the time of the Executive reservation in 1873 the Tribe continued to be dependent on the Lake and rivers . . [.] In no uncertain terms, the Coeur d'Alenes made it be known that their continued reliance on the waterways was necessary to ensure their survival . . . [I]n 1873 the Lake and rivers were an essential part of the 'basket of resources' necessary to sustain the Tribe's livelihood. While tribal members also engaged in gardening, gathering and hunting, the waterways provided a reliable, year-round source of food, fibre and transportation without which the Tribe could not have survived.

95 F. Supp. 2d at 1104 (citations omitted). Judge Lodge found that "the Federal Government could

only achieve its goals of promoting settlement, avoiding hostilities and extinguishing aboriginal

title by agreeing to a reservation that included the submerged lands." Id. at 1107.

Although the 1873 Agreement was subject to congressional ratification, R. at 2657 (Jt.

Stmt. Facts ¶ 61), the Supreme Court in *Idaho II* explained that:

[I]n 1873 President Grant issued an Executive Order directing that the reservation specified in the agreement be 'withdrawn from sale and set apart as a reservation for the Coeur d'Alene Indians.' 533 U.S. at 266 (citations omitted). Judge Lodge specifically found that the Executive Order was intended to "create a reservation for the Coeur d'Alenes that mirrored the terms of the 1873 agreement." 95 F. Supp. 2d at 1109.<sup>3</sup>

#### 1887 Agreement

Increasing encroachments by non-Indians led the Tribe to once again petition the United States to "make with us a proper treaty of peace and friendship . . . [so] that their present reserve may be confirmed to them." Idaho II, 533 U.S. at 267. In response, Congress authorized negotiations with Coeur d'Alene in the Indian Appropriation Act of May 15, 1886, "for the cession of their lands outside the limits of the present Coeur d'Alene reservation to the United States." R. at 1366 (Aff. of Richard Hart, Ex. 4, Report of Comm'r, Dep't of the Interior, Office of Indian Affairs, at 18 (Dec. 13, 1887) ("Dec. 13, 1887 Rep.")) (emphasis added). The federal negotiating commission reported that the "reservation is one of the best we have visited" and that "[t]he Indians are industrious, thrifty, provident, and good traders." R. at 1382 (Aff. of Richard Hart, Ex. 4, Report of Northwest Indian Comm'n, at 50 (June 29, 1887) ("NW Comm'n Rep.")). Coeur d'Alene Chief Andrew Seltice insisted that the commission "preserve for us and our children forever this reservation, where are our schools, our churches, our homes, our graves, our hearts . . . [because] neither money nor land outside do we value compared with this reservation. Make the paper strong; make it so strong that we and all the Indians living on it shall have it forever." R. at 1396 (Aff. of Richard Hart, Ex. 4, Council with Coeur d'Alenes, at 78 (Mar. 25, 1887). The commission, in turn, promised that the United States "will do so if it takes its whole power." Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In 1883, the federal government surveyed the boundaries of the 1873 Reservation and "fixed the reservation's total area at 598,499.85 acres, a calculation that included submerged lands under the Lake and rivers within the boundaries of the reservation." *Idaho II*, 95 F. Supp. 2d at 1106; *see also* 533 U.S. at 267.

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