# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-13-2018

In re CSRBA Case No. 49576 Subcase No. 91-7755 Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45383

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

### II. Argument

#### A. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY REJECTED THE CLAIM THAT WATER WAS RESERVED FOR ALL PURPOSES ASSOCIATED WITH ESTABLISHMENT OF A "HOMELAND."

The United States and the Tribe (together, "Claimants") assert that water for the Coeur d'Alene Indian Reservation was reserved for every conceivable purpose, including irrigated agriculture; domestic, commercial, municipal, and industrial ("DCMI"); fish and wildlife habitat; fish propagation; lake level maintenance; water storage; power generation; religious, cultural, and ceremonial; transportation; stockwater and wildlife; aesthetics; and recreation. *See, e.g.*, R. 5576 (Claim No. 95-16672). Unsurprisingly, the district court concluded that in the Claimants' minds, this is a reservation with no secondary purposes. R. 4319. Indeed, the Claimants embrace this finding by arguing that, on Indian reservations, the distinction between primary and secondary purposes does not apply, and water is reserved for every conceivable purpose that falls under the rubric of "homeland."

1. The Claimants' assertion that Indian reservations are set aside as "homelands" simply states a tautology: the term "homeland" means "a state or area set aside to be a state for a people of a particular national cultural, or racial origin." Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary 554 (10th ed. 1996). The term "reservation" means "[a] tract of public land set aside for a special purpose; esp., a tract of land set aside for use by an Indian tribe." Black's Law Dictionary 1309 (7th ed. 1999). To argue that water is reserved for all "homeland" purposes is to argue that water is reserved for all "reservation" purposes, a position at odds with the very nature of the impliedreservation-of-water doctrine. "Because the doctrine is one of implication, the United States Supreme Court has traditionally applied it very narrowly." Potlatch Corp. v. United States, 134 Idaho 916, 926, 12 P.3d 1260, 1270 (2000) (Trout, J., concurring). It is no coincidence that the only purpose that the Supreme Court has confirmed for Indian reservations is irrigation—nor can such limitation be explained by asserting, as does the United States, that the Court's "decisions addressed water for irrigation because that was the question presented in those cases." U.S. Brief at 14. In Arizona v. California, 373 U.S. 546 (1963), the Court, employing a special master, was asked to determine "the *full extent* of the water rights created by the United States" for five Indian reservations. R. 2235 (special master's report) (emphasis added). Ultimately, the court held that the full extent of water rights was properly measured by reference to the amount of practicably irrigable acreage reserved for each tribe, despite recognizing that water was also "essential . . . to the animals they hunted." 373 U.S. at 599.

The Court's recognition of a singular, primary purpose for the five reservations in *Arizona v. California* reflects its view that the implied-reservation-of water doctrine is to be applied narrowly:

Where water is necessary to fulfill the very purposes for which a federal reservation was created, it is reasonable to conclude, even in the face of Congress' express deference to state water law in other areas, that the United States intended

to reserve the necessary water. Where water is only valuable for a secondary use of the reservation, however, there arises the contrary inference that Congress intended, consistent with its other views, that the United States would acquire water in the same manner as any other public or private appropriator.

#### United States v. New Mexico, 438 U.S. 696, 702 (1978).

While the United States labors to portray *New Mexico* as applying only to "later-defined" uses on national forest lands, the *New Mexico* decision itself belies such claim, for the Court was not crafting a new test for reserved water rights on national forests, but merely gleaning a principle from its earlier decisions. Citing its prior holdings addressing Indian reservations, *id.* at 700 n.4,<sup>1</sup> the Court held that "[*e*]*ach time* this Court has applied the 'implied-reservation-of-water doctrine,' it has carefully examined both the asserted water right and the specific purposes for which the land was reserved, and concluded that without the water the purposes of the reservation would be entirely defeated." *Id.* at 700 (emphasis added).

Because the primary/secondary purposes doctrine was derived, in large part, from the Supreme Court's decisions addressing Indian reservations, there is no basis for concluding that the Court intended to limit its application to reservations of non-Indian lands. The lower federal courts have not done so—while generally prefacing their application of *New Mexico* with the caution that it does not apply "directly" to Indian reservations, *see, e.g., United States v Adair*, 723 F.2d 1394, 1408 (9th Cir. 1983), the lower federal courts have generally followed *New Mexico*'s admonition to look solely to a reservation's primary purposes when implying water rights. *Adair*, citing *New Mexico*, held that "the scope of the implied right is circumscribed by the necessity that calls for its creation," and implied water rights only for primary purposes of the Klamath Reservation, not for secondary uses. *Id.* at 1408-09. In *Colville Confederated Tribes v*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Discussing Winters v. United States, 207 U.S. 564 (1908); 1908); Arizona v. California, 373 U.S. 546 (1963); and Cappaert v. United States, 426 U.S. 128 (1976).

*Walton*, 647 F.2d 42 (9th Cir. 1981), the court, stating "[w]e apply the *New Mexico* test here," found that the primary purpose test is met if the reservation would be "valueless without water" (*id.* at 46, citing *Winters*, 207 U.S. at 576), or if water was "essential to the life of the Indian people." *Id.*, quoting *Arizona v. California*, 373 U.S. at 599.

In *Agua Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians v. Coachella Valley Water Dist.*, 849 F.3d 1262 (9th Cir. 2017), the court again found that the *New Mexico* primary/secondary distinction provides "guidelines" for determining tribal water rights, *id.* at 1269 n.6, and stated that "[b]ecause *New Mexico* holds that water is reserved if the primary purpose of the reservation envisions water use, we now determine the primary purpose of the Tribe's reservation and whether that purpose contemplates water use." *See id.* at 1270 (describing purpose as "to establish a home and support an agrarian society"). Likewise, the Wyoming Supreme Court, in determining reserved water rights for the Wind River Indian Reservation, applied the "rigorous analysis called for by *United States v. New Mexico.*" *In re the General Adjudication of All Rights to Use Water in the Big Horn River System*, 753 P.2d 76, 90 (Wyo. 1988).<sup>2</sup> The Wyoming court found that the primary purposes of the Reservation were defined by those on-reservation activities that were actively encouraged by treaty, rather than merely contemplated or permitted:

Although the treaty did not force the Indians to become farmers and although it clearly contemplates that other activities would be permitted (hunting is mentioned in Article 4, lumbering and milling in Article 3, roaming in Article 9), the treaty encouraged only agriculture, and that was its primary purpose.

Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In *Vaughn v. State*, 963 P.2d 149 (Wyo. 1998), the court abrogated that portion of the *Big Horn* decision employing an abuse of discretion standard to determine whether the district court properly admitted engineering feasibility testimony used to determine practicably irrigable acreage, but otherwise left the decision intact.

Given the wealth of precedent applying *New Mexico* to Indian reservations, the district court did not err in distinguishing between primary and secondary purposes in determining the Tribe's entitlement to reserved water rights. Likewise, this Court must reject the assertion that the *New Mexico* Court, by finding that later-added purposes for federal reservation are not primary purposes, necessarily concluded that *any* original purpose, whether express or implied, is a primary purpose. U.S. Brief at 17-18. If anything, the *New Mexico* decision establishes that only purposes clearly expressed by Congress at the creation of the reservation are primary purposes. In determining the primary purposes of a national forest reservation, the Court stopped at the plain language of the act creating the national forests, 438 U.S. at 707-08, and rejected the United States' assertion that an additional, generalized purpose to "improve and protect" national forests could be implied from the wording of the act. *Id.* at 707 n.14.

2. Not only do the Claimants seek to limit application of *New Mexico's* primary/secondary purposes test: they seek to avoid *any* further inquiry into the Reservation's purposes once it is established that the Reservation was to serve as a "homeland" for the Tribe. The only court to actually apply the Claimant's "homeland" theory of water rights is the Arizona Supreme Court in *In re the General Adjudication of All Rights to Use Water in the Gila River System*, 35 P.3d 68 (Ariz. 2001) (*Gila River V*).<sup>3</sup> In *Gila River V*, the Arizona Supreme Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Claimants' citation of *Montana ex rel. Greely v. Confederated Salish & Kootenai Tribes*, 712 P.2d 754 (Mont. 1985), as a case implying "homeland" water rights is misplaced. While the *Greely* Court appeared to distinguish *New Mexico*, it was not adjudicating reserved water right claims: the only issue it considered was whether "the Montana Water Use Act [is] adequate to adjudicate reserved water rights." 712 P.2d at 762. In conjunction with such question, the court surveyed the case law that described the potential scope of reserved water right claims that could *potentially* be presented in a future case. *Id.* at 762-65. Such dicta establishes no precedent. *Montana Human Rights Div. v. City of Billings*, 649 P.2d 1283, 1287 (Mont. 1982) ("[t]his Court is not bound to give precedential value to dicta"). And in fact, the *Greely* court did not recognize reserved water rights for a broad range of uses, but found authority only for reserved water rights to support agriculture and for fishing and hunting. 712

rejected the parties' proffered historical analyses of the reservation's purposes, instead holding, as a matter of law, "that the purpose of a federal Indian reservation is to serve as a 'permanent home and abiding place' to the Native American people living there." *Id.* at 76 (quoting *Winters*, 207 U.S. at 565). In doing so, the Court rejected a prior decision stating that determination of purpose required "fact-intensive inquiries that must be made on a case-by-case basis," and replaced it with the court's legal finding "that Indian reservations were created as permanent homelands." *Id.* at 76 n.5 (citing *In re the General Adjudication of All Rights to Use Water in the Gila River System*, 989 P.2d 739, 748 (Ariz. 1999)).

The *Gila River V* holding, however, stands on infirm foundations, and is inconsistent with this Court's precedents and that of most jurisdictions. First, the court concluded that "historical reality is irrelevant for purposes of establishing reserved rights," because intent to reserve water rights is "merely imputed" rather than expressed. *Id.* at 75 (quoting Martha C. Franks, *The Uses of the Practicably Irrigable Acreage Standard in the Quantification of Reserved Water Rights*, 31 Nat. Res. J. 549, 563 (1991)). Ignoring historical evidence of intent, however, is at odds with this Court's determination that "[w]hether there has been a federal reservation of water, and the quantity of water reserved, are questions of legislative intent." *Potlatch Corp.*, 134 Idaho at 914, 12 P.3d at 1258. In practice, historical examination into the specific purposes of a reservation often yields valuable information regarding the parties' intent. *Cf. Adair*, 723 F.2d at 1409-10 (examining treaty, negotiations, and related documents to determine the purposes "which the parties to the 1864 Treaty intended the Klamath Reservation to serve"); *Big Horn*, 753 P.2d at 97-98 (employing historical examination to determine what activities the treaty encouraged,

P.2d at 764. The court found no "decisive federal cases" implying water rights to support industrial purposes, *id.* at 765, and concluded only that "[i]t may be that such 'acts of civilization' will include consumptive uses for industrial purposes." *Id.* 

rather than merely permitted); *Winters*, 207 U.S. at 575 (intent to reserve water "turns on the agreement" creating reservation).

Secondly, the *Gila River V* court erred in determining that *New Mexico's* admonition that reserved water rights must be "narrowly quantified to meet the original, primary purpose of the reservation," applies only to "non-Indian reservations." *Gila River V*, 35 P.3d at 73. As discussed *supra*, the Supreme Court's limitation of reserved water rights to those necessary to fulfill the "specific purposes" of a reservation was constructed on the foundation of the Court's prior decisions addressing water rights for Indian reservations; the Arizona court erred in simply casting it aside.

Third, the *Gila River V* court erred in citing a need for "flexibility" in implying the scope of reserved water rights, given its belief that "an across-the-board application of PIA [has the] potential for inequitable treatment of tribes based solely on geographical location." *Id.* at 78. The court's concern about the perceived inflexibility of the PIA standard is at odds with the Supreme Court's reasons for adopting the practicably irrigable acreage standard, which the Court has described as "in part attributable to the Court's interest in a *fixed* calculation of future water needs." *Arizona v. California*, 460 U.S. 605, 617 (1983) (emphasis in original).

The Supreme Court's use of PIA as the measure of reserved water rights is grounded in the principle that the quantity of water reserved is dependent on the uses of land contemplated in the document creating the reservation, not on future uses of water not tied specifically to the productivity of reserved land. *See id.* ("[t]he practicably irrigable acreage standard was preferable because how many Indians there will be and what their future needs will be could 'only be guessed'") (quoting *Arizona v. California*, 373 U.S. at 601). Limiting the reservation of water rights to the primary purposes of reserved land, however, does not limit the *use* of such water for other purposes as a tribe's economy develops—such flexibility was incorporated into the PIA standard by the Special Master in *Arizona v. California*, who held that while "reservations of water were made for the purpose of enabling the Indians to develop a viable agricultural economy" that does not mean that "water reserved for Indian Reservations cannot be used for purposes other than agricultural and related uses." R. 2235 (Special Master's Report at 265). In a follow-up *per curiam* opinion, the Court held that the "quantity of water necessary to supply consumptive use required for irrigation . . . shall constitute the means of determining quantity of adjudicated water rights but shall not constitute a restriction of the usage of them to irrigation or other agricultural application." *Arizona v. California*, 439 U.S. 419, 422 (1979). In *Walton*, the court held that allowing flexibility in the usage of water initially reserved for irrigation met the general purpose of "providing a homeland for the survival and growth of the Indians and their way of life." 647 F.2d at 49. In other words, concerns about flexibility are addressed by recognizing that uses of reserved water rights may change over time, not by implying the reservation of additional water for such uses.

Finally, the *Gila River V* court erred in its belief that treaties must be interpreted to avoid inequitable outcomes. 35 P.3d at 78. By interpreting a treaty flexibly in order to avoid results the court viewed as inequitable, the Arizona court violated the Supreme Court's admonishment that courts are not "at liberty to dispense with any of the conditions or requirements of the treaty, or to take away any qualification or integral part of any stipulation, upon any notion of equity or general convenience, or substantial justice." *United States v. Choctaw Nation*, 179 U.S. 494, 533 (1900); *see also United States v. Washington*, 157 F.3d 630, 650 (9th Cir. 1998) (a court may not employ "equitable considerations in *interpreting* Indian treaties") (emphasis in original).

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